S247266

No.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

CALIFORNIA SCHOOL BOARDS ASSOCIATION, et al. Appellants and Petitioners

VS.

STATE OF CALIFORNIA, et al. Appellees and Respondents.

CALIFORNIA COURT OF APPEAL, First Appellate District, Division 5 Case No. A 148606

Alameda County Superior Court (The Honorable Evelio Grillo) Case No. RG 11554698

APPELLANT/PETITIONERS' PETITION FOR REVIEW

Deborah B. Caplan [SBN 196606] Richard C. Miadich [SBN 224873] OLSON, HAGEL & FISHBURN, LLP 555 Capitol Mall, Suite 400 Sacramento, CA 95814 Telephone: 916.442.2952

Facsimile: 916.442.1280

Counsel for Appellants/Petitioners

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1) Does the State violate the mandate reimbursement requirement of article XIIIB, section 6 when it directs local agencies, including schools, to use their own "proceeds of taxes" to pay state-mandated costs, either directly or by directing them to use funds that are not available as a factual matter?
- 2) Does the State violate the separation of powers principles of article III, section 3 when it statutorily directs that certain funding satisfies its mandate reimbursement obligation despite final determinations by the Commission on State Mandates finding that the same funding did not satisfy the requirements of article XIIIB, section 6?

WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

This case calls upon the Court to address important issues of law concerning the State's obligation to reimburse local governments for statemandated programs under article XIIIB, section 6 of the State Constitution. In 2010, the State essentially re-defined mandate reimbursement in a way that eliminates actual reimbursement and it specifically re-defined the State's obligation to reimburse schools in a way that renders Section 6 meaningless by forcing schools to pay state-mandated costs themselves.

Review by this Court is necessary because the appellate court's decision reverses decades of law requiring the State to provide actual, additional payment for its mandates, and validates the State's efforts to avoid mandate reimbursement by simply pointing to existing funding provided for other purposes. The decision fundamentally alters the application of article XIIIB to schools in a way that effectively paves the way for the State to end payment for education mandates. The appellate court's failure to

acknowledge that unrestricted state education funding has been defined as local proceeds of taxes and is protected by Section 6 has potentially farreaching consequences, including the dramatic reduction of article XIIIB spending limits for school districts and county offices of education throughout the state.

Article XIIIB imposes spending limits on state and local governments (including education agencies) based upon each agency's "proceeds of taxes" in the preceding year, and it defines that term in very specific ways. (Cal. Const., art. XIIIB, §§1&8.) Section 6 provides that whenever the State requires a local government to provide a new program or higher level of service, it "shall provide a subvention of funds to reimburse that local government for the costs of the program. . . " (*Id.* at §6 ["Section 6"].) The purpose of Section 6 is to protect local governments, whose taxing and spending authority is limited by articles XIIIA and XIIIB, from being forced to absorb the cost of state-mandated programs.

Costs are not reimbursable under article XIIIB if the State provides funding for the mandated program, but the funding must consist of "additional revenue. . . . specifically intended to fund the costs of the mandate. . . ." (Gov. Code, §17556(e).) This requirement – in effect since 1989 – treats costs as reimbursable unless additional funding is provided specifically for the mandate. Conversely, if such funding has been provided, the Commission on State Mandates ("Commission") is directed to find that there are no "costs" requiring reimbursement. (*Id.*) Every mandate determination by the Commission therefore implicitly requires a finding that funding has not been provided by the State that satisfies article XIIIB.

The requirement for actual, additional mandate payments applies to all local agencies, but applies to schools in a specific way because much of their funding comes from the State. As detailed *infra*, when article XIIIB was

adopted, the State had just re-structured education finance to decrease reliance on property tax revenues and increase state equalization aid. (*County of Sonoma v. Comm. on State Mandates* (2000) 84 Cal.App.4th 1264, 1271-1274 ("*Sonoma*").) As a result, "state subventions" (*i.e.*, state funding) are constitutionally defined as "local proceeds of taxes" (Cal. Const., art. XIIIB, §8(b)&(c)) and unrestricted education funding from the State has been statutorily defined since 1990 as the schools' "proceeds of taxes" for purposes of determining their spending limits. (Gov. Code, §§ 7906&7907.) The Commission and courts have long held that this funding cannot be considered payment for state-mandated costs because such an approach would force schools to use their own proceeds of taxes to pay the mandated costs.

In 2010, the State amended Government Code section 17557, which governs the "parameters and guidelines" for mandate reimbursement. The legislation allows the State to circumvent the additional payment requirement by identifying "offsetting revenues" in the parameters and guidelines by identifying funding that would not satisfy section 17556(e). (Gov. Code, \$17557(d)(2)(B).) In other words, section 17557(d)(2)(B) reverses the longstanding construction of Section 6 requiring additional payment. Without directly addressing it, the Court allows the State to avoid the additional payment requirement applicable to the original mandate determination by using the parameters and guidelines to eliminate that very same reimbursement obligation – without providing any funding.

In the same budget package, the State took steps to eliminate reimbursement for two mandates that it had litigated for years (and lost). First, it directed schools to use their unrestricted general education funding – their proceeds of taxes – as payment for a high school science mandate that the State had refused to pay since 1987. (Ed. Code, §42238.24.) Second, it directed schools to use special education funding – a program underfunded by

approximately \$3.4 billion annually at that time – to pay for a behavioral intervention mandate that the State had refused to pay since 1993. (Ed. Code, §56523(f).) In both cases, the Commission had specifically found that general education funding and special education funding, respectively, did not constitute funding that satisfied Section 6. Thus, Education Code sections 42238.24 and 56523(f) were specifically designed to negate the earlier mandate determinations by eliminating reimbursement with an "update" to the parameters and guidelines. The Legislative Analyst noted that the legislation "eliminated two of the state's costliest K-12 mandates."

(www.lao.ca.gov/reports/2010/bud/spend_plan/spend_plan_110510.pdf, at p. 21.)

Both the trial court and the Court of Appeal concluded that these provisions satisfied Section 6 based on a misapplication of this Court's holdings in *Dept. of Finance v. Comm. on State Mandates* (2003) 30 Cal.4th 727 ("Kern") and County of Fresno v. State (1991) 53 Cal.3d 482 ("Fresno").

Kern concluded that no "costs" were imposed where the State imposed de minimis costs related to categorical programs that could be paid from funding provided for those programs. (Kern at 752-754.) The appellate court extended this holding beyond categorical programs to allow the State to designate virtually any state funding for mandate payment – even funding that is either the local agencies' own proceeds of taxes or is provided for a different program already significantly underfunded by billions of dollars. (Op. at 16-17.)

The appellate court coupled this with a significant misreading of *Fresno*, which held that reimbursement is not constitutionally required where the costs are not payable from an agency's "local revenues." (*Fresno* at 486-487.) The appellate court read *Fresno* to affirmatively exclude reimbursement where the State requires the local agency to pay for the mandated program

from "proceeds of taxes" other than "local revenues" (Op. at 16-17), even though the spending limits are defined by "proceeds of taxes" rather than "revenues" and local "revenues" are defined to include certain state funding. (Gov. Code, §7901(h).)

The Court's reading of *Fresno* would reverse several decades of law applying article XIIIB to education agencies. Its conclusion that Section 6 protects only local revenues and not local proceeds of taxes would allow the State to eliminate virtually all education mandate payment simply by identifying state general education funding. In addition, if the State is correct that these funds are not the schools' proceeds of taxes because they are "mandate appropriations," it would also dramatically reduce the spending limit of each education agency – which currently includes general education funding but excludes mandate payments.

The Court's analysis demonstrates a fundamental misunderstanding of the relationship between the initial mandate decision and the reimbursement obligation that affected not only its conclusion regarding Section 6, but also regarding separation of powers. Both *Kern* and *Fresno* concerned whether certain state programs imposed "costs" requiring reimbursement, *i.e.*, whether there was a state mandate in the first instance. In this case, the Commission determined that the two programs *did*, in fact, impose costs requiring reimbursement and that the funding identified by the State *did not* satisfy Section 6. The appellate court justified the State's end-run around these rulings by describing the changes as merely "prospective." This conclusion misconstrues the separation of powers principles in article III, section 3 as applied to mandates in a way that eliminates any real finality for Commission decisions going forward and requires correction by this Court.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Fourth Amended Complaint included four claims. The case was bifurcated (JA II:393) and the trial court first considered the petition for writ of mandate to declare Government Code section 17557(d)(2)(B) unconstitutional as applied to Education Code sections 42238.24 and 56523(f). The court denied the petition. (JA III:1055.) The court later deemed the cause of action directly challenging the constitutionality of the two Education Code provisions resolved by its ruling on the mandate claim and denied petitioners' motion to amend or provide further briefing related to Education Code section 42238.24. (JA IV:1189.) It subsequently dismissed the remaining claims for not having been brought to trial within five years. (JA V:1250.)

The Court of Appeal affirmed the denial of the writ, concluding that section 17557(d)(2)(B) was not unconstitutional as applied to the two Education Code provisions under either article XIIIB, section 6 or article III, section 3. The Court reversed the trial court's denial of the motion to amend and its dismissal of the remaining claims and remanded for further proceedings on those issues. (Op. at 28-36.) A Petition for Rehearing was denied February 7, although the Opinion was modified slightly. (Order Modifying Opinion and Denying Rehearing.) This Petition only seeks review with respect to the Court's affirmance of the trial court denial of the petition for writ of mandate.

BACKGROUND

A. Article XIIIB and Section 6

Under article XIIIB, all governmental entities have a spending limit. In order to prevent the State from shifting the cost of state programs to local governments, Section 6 requires the State to reimburse local governments for

any state-mandated costs. Its purpose is "to preclude the state from shifting financial responsibility for carrying out governmental functions to local agencies, which are 'ill equipped' to assume increased financial responsibilities because of the taxing and spending limitations that articles XIIIA and XIIIB impose." (*County of San Diego v. State* (1997) 15 Cal.4th 68, 81.)

Under article XIIIB, the local government spending limit is defined as "any authorization to expend. . . . the *proceeds of taxes levied by or for that entity and the proceeds of state subventions* to that entity (other than subventions made pursuant to Section 6). . . ." (Cal. Const., art. XIIIB, §8(b), emphasis added.) "Proceeds of taxes' shall include, *but not be restricted to*, all tax revenues. . . . With respect to any local government, 'proceeds of taxes' shall include subventions received from the State, other than pursuant to Section 6. . . ." (Id., §8(c), emphasis added.)

The inclusion of "state subventions" in each local agency's "proceeds of taxes" acknowledged recent changes in state and local finance that had occurred just prior to the enactment of XIIIB. (See AOB at 13-14, 35-37; ARB at 15-20.) In 1977, the Legislature enacted a new education finance structure that limited the use of property taxes for schools and, in 1978, Proposition 13 was adopted. (*Sonoma* at 1272-1274.) In response to these developments, the State allocated the majority of property tax revenues to cities and counties and replaced the schools' lost property tax revenues with General Fund revenues; it also increased state spending on education and provided financial assistance to other local governments adversely affected by Proposition 13. (*Id.*) Because article XIIIB bases each local agency's spending limit on "state subventions" as well as tax revenues, the 1980 implementing legislation defined "state subventions" to local governments, including schools, as any "unrestricted" state funding. (Gov. Code, §7903;

see also §7901(h) [for local jurisdictions, "revenues and appropriations shall include subventions, as defined in Section 7903"].)

In 1984, the State created a new administrative process to adjudicate mandate claims. (*Kinlaw v. State* (1991) 54 Cal.3d 326; Gov. Code, §§17500 *et seq.*) The Commission on State Mandates ("Commission"), an independent, quasi-judicial body comprised of State and local representatives, determines which state programs or services impose local "costs" that require reimbursement. (*Id.* at §17514.)

In some circumstances, the State may impose a new program or service but "costs" are not reimbursable. (Gov. Code, §17556.) Subdivision (e) provides that a mandate is not created if the State provides "additional revenue that was specifically intended to fund the costs of the state mandate in an amount sufficient to fund the cost of the state mandate. . . ." (Gov. Code, §17556(e).) The law for several decades has therefore been that a mandated program or service imposes costs subject to reimbursement unless *additional* funding is provided *specifically to fund the mandate*.

Any party to a Commission decision may request judicial review. (Gov. Code, §17559.) However, once review is exhausted and the decision has become final, it is treated as any other quasi-judicial decision and cannot be altered without violating separation of powers principles. (See Cal. Const., art. III, §3; *CSBA v. State* (2009) 171 Cal.App.4th 1183 ("*CSBA I*").)

B. Education Mandates

In the 1970's, this Court held that the heavy reliance on property tax revenues and resulting disparities in education funding violated Equal Protection. (*Serrano v. Priest* (1971) 5 Cal.3d 584; *Serrano v. Priest* (1976) 18 Cal.3d 728.) In response, the State implemented "revenue limits" to decrease reliance on local property taxes and increase state equalization

funding. (Ed. Code, §42238 *et seq.*) Each agency's revenue limit represented the upper limit of that agency's combination of state and local funding. Districts whose property tax receipts (and other local revenue offsets) were equal to or higher than their revenue limit – referred to as "basic aid districts" – received only nominal state funding but districts whose local revenues were insufficient to meet the revenue limit received state funding to make up the difference. The State's revenue limit funding was unrestricted, *i.e.*, it was provided to support the general education program.¹

When Proposition 13 was adopted in 1978, property tax revenues were dramatically reduced statewide; the State allocated most of the reduced revenues to cities and counties, causing the percentage of property taxes allocated to schools to drop further. (*Sonoma* at 1271-1274.) By the time article XIIIB was adopted, the percentage had dropped from approximately 53% to 35% and most education agencies received some revenue limit funding.²

While article XIIIB generally defined "state subventions" as local proceeds of taxes, the implementing legislation specifically defined unrestricted state education funding as local proceeds of taxes. (Gov. Code, §§7906&7907.) If this had not been done, the spending limits for schools would have been substantially reduced at a time the State was trying to

¹ "Categorical funding," *i.e.*, restricted funding provided for specified purposes, was calculated and appropriated separately.

² In 2013-14, revenue limits were replaced with the local control funding formula ("LCFF"), which combines each district's 2012-13 revenue limit and some categorical funding to create a new base, and provides additional funding for districts with large numbers of low income students and English learners. Like revenue limits, each district has an upper LCFF funding entitlement, and the State provides the difference, if any, between local property tax receipts (and other credits) and the LCFF entitlement. (Ed. Code, §§ 42238.02-42238.03.) Similar provisions govern county offices of education. (Ed. Code, §§ 2574-2579.)

equalize education funding in order to comply with *Serrano*. (See, *e.g.*, JAIII:784 [property tax revenues comprised approximately 20.5% of District revenues].) With respect to article XIIIB therefore, unrestricted "state funding" (previously revenue limits, now the local control funding formula) has been construed since 1980 to be part of each education agency's local "proceeds of taxes" and their spending limits include this funding.

Although the State has argued over the years that mandate reimbursement is unnecessary for education mandates because of the large amount of general education funding, this argument has been rejected by the Commission because of the history of education funding, the definitions in article XIIIB, and the implementing legislation. (JA II:620-623; 656-660.)

C. The 2010 Legislative Changes to the Mandate Process

In 2010, the Legislature made changes to the mandate process and the Education Code in several budget "trailer bills" without any public review or participation. (JA II:457-463 [SB 856]; JA II: 473-485 [AB 1610].)

SB 856 added new "offsetting revenues" language to section 17557, which governs the "parameters and guidelines" for reimbursement once a mandate determination has been made. (JA II:458.) ³ Rather than directly amending Government Code section 17556(e) (which requires additional funding specifically intended for the mandate), new section 17557(d)(2) allows the parameters and guidelines to be "updated" to reflect "offsetting revenues" that "do not require a new legal finding that there are not costs mandated... pursuant to...section 17556." (Gov. Code, §17557(d)(2)(B).) In

³ Section 17556(e) originally required the funding to be identified in the initial mandate legislation. The 2010 amendment allowed funding to be provided later, but *it maintained the requirements that there be additional funding intended for the mandate*. (JA II:457; Gov. Code, §17556(e), emphasis added.)

other words, funding that would be insufficient to defeat the creation of a mandate under section 17556(e) may nonetheless defeat the right *to reimbursement* for that mandate under section 17557(d)(2)(B).

The budget connection for this bill was apparently the savings to be realized from the elimination of two longstanding education mandates.

The first was the *High School Graduation Requirements* ("GR") *Mandate*.) In 1987, the Commission determined that new state science requirements imposed costs requiring reimbursement. The State refused to pay certain costs, claiming that districts could use existing general education funding. The court rejected that argument in 2004, concluding that it would "defeat the purpose of section 6, to protect local agencies ... from a state mandate that forces the district to shift its limited revenues to the state mandate from existing local programs for which the revenues have been budgeted." (JA II:562-563.) In the subsequent parameters and guidelines proceeding, the State again argued that costs should be offset by the districts' revenue limit funding. (JA II:620-623; 656-660.) The Commission rejected the argument in 2008, concluding that this approach "would require school districts to use their proceeds of taxes on a state-mandated program." (JA II:623.) The Commission's decision affirmed by the courts. (JA II:649-650.) The unpaid obligation in 2014 was more than \$3 billion. (JA II:519-545.)

In 2010, the State added Education Code section 42238.24, which directs that teacher costs related to the *GR Mandate* "shall be offset by the amount of state funding apportioned to the district pursuant to this article…" (JA II:473.)⁴ At that time, "this article" referred to revenue limit funding; it

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