In the Supreme Court of the State of California

CALIFORNIA SCHOOL BOARDS ASSOCIATION, and its EDUCATIONAL LEGAL ALLIANCE; et al.,

Plaintiffs and Appellants,

v.

STATE OF CALIFORNIA, et al.,

Defendants and Respondents.

Case No. S247266

First Appellate District, Division Five, Case No. A148606 Alameda County Superior Court, Case No. RG11554698 The Honorable Evelio Martin Grillo, Judge

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

I. THIS CASE DOES NOT MEET THE STANDARDS FOR REVIEW

CSBA does not explicitly state why this case is appropriate for review. The opinion below does not conflict with any other published opinion. (See Cal. Rule of Court 8.500, subd. (b)(1).) And while CSBA asserts that the decision below "has potentially far-reaching consequences" (Petition, p. 6), CSBA is mistaken. At this point in time, the two offset statutes are primarily a matter of historical interest rather than of ongoing concern.

Education Code sections 56523(f) and 42238.24 were enacted in 2010. Although CSBA filed its lawsuit in early 2011, it did not bring its challenge to these statutes to trial until 2015. Currently the statutes have little to no application going forward, making this case primarily about schools seeking additional funds for work performed years ago rather than as an ongoing matter of statewide concern. While schools might desire additional revenue for the work they did earlier in this decade, this does not rise to the level of statewide importance that CSBA claims.⁵

⁵ Even if CSBA were to prevail, it is unclear whether there would be any additional revenue for schools. This is because Proposition 98 "provides the formulas for determining the minimum to be appropriated [to (continued...)

Education Code section 56523(f), which requires school districts to first use special education funds appropriated to them by the State to offset BIP costs, was functionally repealed in 2013 when the BIP mandate was repealed. (See Ed. Code, § 56523, subd. (a) [Legislature repealed regulations for BIP mandate in 2013]; Petition, p. 17, fn. 6 [conceding same].) In other words, because BIP is no longer a mandate and schools no longer need to provide services for it, the only issue left is whether the State should have provided schools with more BIP funding between 2010 and 2013 (from the enactment of section 56523(f) until the repeal of BIP).

And the impact of Education Code section 42238.24, which requires schools to first use three sources of state funding before seeking additional funding for the graduation requirements mandate, has ceased to be a live issue for the vast majority of schools as of 2013, when graduation requirements became part of the mandates block grant. (Gov. Code, § 17581.6, subd. (f)(23).) As described above, the block grant is a voluntary alternative—schools are paid a set amount for all mandates rather than having to file a claim for each one. (See Gov. Code, § 17581.6.)

The record demonstrates that more than 90% of schools, representing 95% of the students in the state, accepted the block grant as of 2013-14. (JA Vol III, tab 39, p. 864.) And the number has only increased, with the

^{(...}continued)

schools] every budget year." (*County of Sonoma v. Commission on State Mandates* (2000) 84 Cal.App.4th 1264, pp. 1289-90.) If the Legislature appropriates funds for a mandate, this funding can be part of the Proposition 98 guarantee. (See, e.g., Ed. Code, § 41207.4, subds. (b), (c) [mandate appropriation satisfies Proposition 98 guarantee]; III JA Vol. III 848, 852 [traditional mandate appropriations and mandate block grant appropriations part of Proposition 98 funding]; III JA 828, 829, ¶¶ 5-6.) In other words, if the Legislature appropriates more mandate funds for schools in a given budget year, schools will not generally receive more net funding from the State. (See III JA 828, ¶¶ 5, 6.)

Legislative Analyst's Office noting "[n]ear universal participation in [the] block grant" of 95% of schools by 2016-2017, representing 99% of the state's students.

(http://www.lao.ca.gov/Publications/Report/3549#K.201112_Education_in _Context [as of March 21, 2018].) Accordingly, almost all schools are currently receiving funding for graduation requirements through the block grant, and are not subject to the offsets of 42238.24. Therefore, for the vast majority of schools, the effect of 42238.24 is no longer a live controversy.

Accordingly, the two statutes at issue in the decision below have almost no future application. Moreover, the alleged "potentially farreaching consequences" and the "end[ing] [of] payment for education mandates" that CSBA claimed in their petition has simply not come to pass. (Pet., pp. 5-6.) In the approximately eight years since Education Code sections 56523(f) and 42238.24 were enacted, the Legislature has not passed any other legislation similar in purpose or effect as these two statutes. And CSBA does not point to any current or pending bills that would act similarly to these two statutes. If similar statutes are enacted in the future, and if they are challenged, this Court would be able to review them then when they present a more concrete case or controversy.

II. THERE ARE SEVERAL OUTSTANDING CLAIMS STILL TO BE RESOLVED

Many issues in this case about mandate funding and the two statutes addressed in the Court of Appeal's decision remain unresolved, and will go back to the trial court for further development. After the trial court tentatively ruled that the offset statutes were constitutional, CSBA sought leave to amend to assert that the same statutes violated article III, section 36, of the California Constitution given that it allowed the state to consider Education Protection Account funds as offsetting state funding. (III JA 1002-1006.) Although the trial court denied leave to amend because of the

lateness of the claim (IV JA 1127-1129), the decision below reversed and remanded, allowing CSBA to bring this claim to trial. (Slip Op., p. 32.)

Moreover, two other constitutional challenges were dismissed by the trial court for failure to bring the claims to trial within five years as required by Code of Civil Procedure section 583.310. (V JA 1256-1259.) The Court of Appeal reversed the trial court on this decision too, allowing CSBA to assert whether certain amendments to the Education Code allow the Commission to set aside final test claim decisions. (Slip. Op., p. 33.) And CSBA will be allowed to develop their fourth cause of action, which seems to challenge the constitutionality of the entire mandate system. (Slip. Op., p. 34.) With so many outstanding claims, including challenges to various aspects of the two Education Code provisions that the Court of Appeal already upheld, this Court need not become involved in the litigation now.

III. THE COURT OF APPEAL CORRECTLY ANALYZED THE APPLICABLE AUTHORITIES AND REACHED THE CORRECT RESULT

Moreover, the Court of Appeal correctly analyzed the statutes and applied the authorities and reached the correct result. CSBA challenges the offset statutes as being inconsistent with article XIIIB, section 6, but fails to identify any case law that interprets that constitutional provision in the manner they suggest. In fact, all case law supports the Court of Appeal's opinion that the statutes are constitutional. And although CSBA contends that the State is not providing enough money for schools through the mandate process, "there is no basis for applying section 6 as an equitable remedy to cure the perceived unfairness resulting from political decisions on funding priorities." (*City of San Jose v. State of California* (1996) 45 Cal.App.4th 1802, 1817.)

A. The Two Offset Statutes Are Constitutional Because the Legislature Can Prioritize How School Districts Use State Funding

CSBA asserts that the decision below erred in upholding the constitutionality of Education Code sections 42238.24 and 56523(f). (Petition, p. 19-30.) Both provisions require that schools first use other sources of state funding before they can seek additional reimbursement through the mandates process. But because the Legislature has the ability to direct what funds should be used first to pay for the cost of the mandate, CSBA's claim that the statutes are unconstitutional fails. In California Teachers Association v. Hayes (1992) 5 Cal. App. 4th 1513, 1518, the Court noted that school districts are agents of the state "rather than independent, autonomous political bodies," and that they "do not have a proprietary interest in moneys which are apportioned to them." (*Id.*, p. 1533.) Accordingly, the Court upheld the Legislature's decision to include funding for certain child care services within the Proposition 98 guarantee. (*Id.*, pp. 1532-33.) Here regarding the two mandates, just like in *California* Teachers Association, the Legislature is directing school districts how to expend funds, and nothing in the text of article XIIIB, section 6 prohibits this. (See City of San Jose, supra, 45 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1816-1817 ["A strict construction of section 6 is in keeping with rules of constitutional interpretation, which require that constitutional limitations and restrictions on legislative power are to be construed strictly, and are not to be extended to include matters not covered by the language used"].)

Additionally, this Court has already held that a program is not a mandate if the Legislature provides funds to the local agency sufficient to cover the program's cost. In *Department of Finance v. Commission on State Mandates (Kern)* (2003) 30 Cal.4th 727, two school districts and a county alleged they had a right to reimbursement from the state for

statutory notice and agenda requirements for a number of school-related educational programs. (*Id.*, pp. 730-731.) Concerning an advisory committee, the Court noted the State was already giving schools funds to comply and those funds had to be used for reasonable administrative expenses. (Id., p. 747.) Accordingly, the Court found that "the costs necessarily incurred in complying with the notice and agenda requirements under that funded program do not entitle claimants to obtain reimbursement under article XIII B, section 6, because the state, in providing program funds to claimants, already has provided funds that may be used to cover the necessary notice and agenda-related expenses." (Id., pp. 746-747, emphasis added; see also County of Fresno v. State (1991) 53 Cal.3rd 482, 485, 487 [hazardous waste program item not a mandate because local government entity need not expend its own tax revenues].) Of course, here the item is a mandate, but the same principles apply. Because the state is providing funds for the program, and schools need not use their own tax revenues to pay for the costs of the programs, there is no right to additional reimbursement. (Slip Op., pp. 16-17, 21; see also California Sch. Boards Assn. v. State (2011) 192 Cal. App. 4th 770, 787 [state cannot "requir[e] . . . local entities to use their own revenues to pay for the programs"].)

CSBA's arguments to the contrary are unpersuasive and primarily rely on alleged distinctions not present in the cases themselves. CSBA argues that the decision below reads *Kern* too broadly and "reads education agencies out of section 6." (Petition, pp. 22-23.) But it is unclear how this could be the case. There are numerous education mandates in which schools continue to receive reimbursement through the traditional mandates process or block grant despite the presence of the two offset statutes. CSBA also attempts to draw a distinction between categorical and noncategorical funding that is simply not present or discussed in any of the cases. (Petition, pp. 23-24.) And CSBA's strained attempt to read *County*

of Fresno as being about "the relationship between the spending limitations of article XIIIB and section 6 reimbursement" (Petition, p. 24) is unsupported by any authority.

Finally, CSBA argues that an additional problem arises with BIPs because the special education funding used as an offset was "already underfunded." (Petition, p. 28.) CSBA alleged that BIP used to cost schools \$65 million a year (until it was repealed in 2013) (II JA 417), but the state provided schools with over \$3 billion each year to pay for special education. (See III JA 777-778, # 21.) That is clearly enough revenue such that schools would not need to use local revenues to pay for BIPs. In other words, the special education funding provided by Education Code 56523(f) was the subvention or reimbursement required by article XIIIB, section 6. And schools were required to offset BIP *first* before paying for other special education programs, meaning that although CSBA complains that they did not have enough special education funding, there would be enough for BIPs. Alleged shortages elsewhere for other programs, while not proven, are in any event simply not a constitutional problem. As this Court noted, "[t]he circumstance that the program funds claimants may have wished to use exclusively for substantive program activities are thereby reduced, does not in itself transform the related costs into a reimbursable state mandate." (Kern, supra, 30 Cal.4th at p. 748; see also County of Sonoma, supra, 84 Cal. App. 4th at p. 1285 [decreases in county revenues caused by state shift of funds from counties to schools not a mandate]; City of San Jose, supra, 45 Cal. App. 4th at p. 1816 [Court not "persuaded by the argument that budget cuts in other programs trigger the subvention requirement in section 6"].)

B. The Funding at Issue Is State Funding, Not Local

CSBA also claims that the moneys at issue here are local revenues and local proceeds of taxes, and therefore cannot be used for mandate reimbursement. CSBA is incorrect.

Only state funding can be used as an offset under the clear terms of the statutes. Education Code section 42238.24 provides that costs for teachers to provide the second science course "shall be offset by the amount of *state funding* apportioned to the district pursuant to this article . . . and the amount of *state funding* received from any of the items listed in Section 42605 that are contained in the annual Budget Act." (Educ. Code, § 42238.24.) Similarly, Education Code section 56523(f) provides that for BIPs, "*state funding* provided for purposes of special education . . . shall first be used to directly offset any mandated costs." (Educ. Code, § 56523, subd. (f).) Accordingly, the terms of the offset statutes make clear that schools are not required to use their tax revenues to pay for the costs of the programs, which is the focus of article XIIIB, section 6. (*California Sch. Boards Assn.*, *supra*, 192 Cal.App.4th at 787.) And, as discussed above, even if there is less general purpose revenue because of the offset statutes, this does not violate article XIIIB, section 6.

CSBA's argument that the reimbursement at issue here is local "proceeds of taxes" fares no better, even if CSBA had preserved the claim.⁶ The phrase "proceeds of taxes" refers to the state and local appropriations limit found elsewhere in article XIIIIB. CSBA claims that the statutes at

⁶ This argument was not pled in the complaint and not presented to the trial court. Nowhere in the operative complaint is there a discussion of "proceeds of taxes" and the state appropriations limit. (1 JA 285-316.) CSBA also did not brief this argument in the trial court (See 2 JA 398-423), and it was therefore not discussed in the trial court's decision. This Court should therefore consider this theory forfeited.

issue here require schools to use their own tax revenue to pay for the mandates. As described above, it is state funding that must be used for the offsets. And state mandate reimbursement payments do not count towards local government's appropriation limits. Because the funding given to schools under the offset provisions is mandate reimbursement, this revenue is simply not a school district's local "proceeds of taxes." (See Cal. Const., art. XIIIB, § 8, subd. (c) [mandate reimbursement not local government's proceeds of taxes]; Gov. Code, § 7906, subd. (c)(2) [same].) Accordingly, the State is not directing what a local government can or cannot do with the local government's own "proceeds of taxes."

C. The Legislation Does Not Violate Separation of Powers

CSBA finally argues that the Court misconstrued the separation of powers issue in the mandate context. (Petition, p. 30.) CSBA asserts that the finding that BIPs and graduation requirements are mandates means there was a finding that there were no sufficient funds available to pay these costs and that the offset statutes "allow[] the State to effectively overrule the mandate determination." (*Id.*, pp. 30-31.) It is CSBA that misconstrues the decision below and the earlier Commission decisions.

When the Commission determined that graduation requirements and BIPs were mandates, it determined that the State was required to provide reimbursement for them. These decisions were made in 1987 and 2000, respectively. (II JA 492-494, 667.) At the time, there were no statutes that required schools to first use other sources of revenue before seeking additional reimbursement through the mandates process.

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